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.| FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C.

November 1, 2024

VIA EMAIL

Eric H. Spencer

Snell & Wilmer L.L.P.
One Arizona Center
Phoenix, AZ 85004-2202
espencer@swlaw.com

RE: MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action)
Dear Mr. Spencer:

On October 2, 2024, the Federal Election Commission accepted the signed conciliation
agreement submitted on your client’s behalf in settlement of a violation of 52 U.S.C.
8 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and (c)(2)(C), provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971, as amended (the “Act”). Accordingly, the file has been closed in this matter, effective
today.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record today. See
Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702
(Aug. 2, 2016). Information derived in connection with any conciliation attempt will not
become public without the written consent of the respondent and the Commission. See
52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B).

Enclosed you will find a copy of the fully executed conciliation agreement for your
files. Please note that the civil penalty is due within 30 days of the conciliation agreement’s
effective date. Payment can be made online by debit, credit card, or automated clearing
house (ACH) withdrawal, using this link to the government’s secure portal for online
collections: https://www.pay.gov/public/form/start/316805379. Payment can also be made by
check or money order payable to the Federal Election Commission and sent via regular mail
to the Federal Election Commission, 1050 First Street NE, Washington, DC 20463, or by
courier or overnight delivery to the same address but with a different zip code
(20002). Please write the matter number “MUR 7892 civil penalty” on the memo line of the
check. If you have any questions, please contact Dominique Dillenseger at (202) 694-1650.

Sincerely,

s Aalils

Rocelyn Halili
Attorney

Enclosure:
Conciliation Agreement
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CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter was generated by a Complaint filed with the Federal Blectic
(“Commission”). The Commission found reason to bellcvethatT
(“Respondent”) violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and (c)(2)(
contributions totaling $33,795 on its 2020 October Quarterly and Year-End Reports

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondent, ‘having pz
informal methods of conciliation prior to a finding of probable cause
follows:

I The Commission has jurisdiction over Responc
proceeding, and this Agreement has the effect of an agreem¢
§ 30109(a)(4)(A)G).

IL. Respondent has had a reasonable opportunity tc
should be taken in this matter.

II.  Respondent enters voluntarily into this /

IV.  The pertinent facts in this matterar‘easﬁ?

1. Respondent is a tax-exem h
501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code.

2. According to Respc
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awareness about free markets and capitalism, initiating civic action amongst the younger
generation and educating youth in order to be a resource for free market thinkers to further
advance their values to educate and empower the younger generation.”

3 Charles “Charlie” Kirk is Respondent’s founder, president, and CEO.

4, Respondent states that it fundraised through advertising platforms on
Facebook and Google in 2020. It states that it placed 131 online advertisements, which linked

to donation portals on Respondent’s website, https://tpaction.com. Hyperlinks on each of the

ads directed to one of three donation portals on Respondents’ website: “Get Involved,” “Yard
Sign,” and “GOTV.” These donation portals were also directly available on Respondent’s
website.

5. Respondent states that its Google ads contained hyperlinks to the “Get_
Involved” Donation Portal. Respondent states that between August 1, 2019, and December 25,
2020, 549 donors made contributions through this portal, but only 12 contributions from six

contributors exceeded the $200 reporting threshold, for a reportable contributions total of $6,820.

6. The “Get Involved” portal solicited contributions, stating, “[p]lease
make a contribution of any amount to help us win in 2020.” Respondent’s Google ads
linking to this portal sought donations to help Respondent “re-elect Trump™ or “defeat Joe
Biden and Kamala Harris.” The advertisements included statements such as: “We must
work together to defeat Joe Biden and Kamala Harris. Help us reach critical swing voters
by contributing today”; and “Your donation will support Charlie Kirk’s grassroots door-
knocking army to re-elect Trump. We need your help to defeat Biden and Kamala Harris.”

7 Respondent states that its ad library contained a total of 129 independent

expenditure advertisements published between August 19, 2020, and November 4, 2020, that
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linked to the “Yard Sign” or “GOTV" donation portals.

8. The “Yard Sign” portal included campaign slogans such as “TRUMP
PENCE 2020,” “THIS HOUSE IS VOTING FOR TRUMP,” and “WE SUPPORT TRUMP.”
which Respondent acknowledges contained express advocacy. There were 14 advertisements
that ran on Facebook from September 10, 2020, to October 26, 2020, linked to the “Yard Sign”
portal, which resulted in 127 contributions received from 118 unique contributors. However,
according to Respondent, it had no reporting obligation associated with these contributions

because none of the donors’ aggregate contributions exceeded the $200 reporting threshold for

2020.

9: Respondent states that a second set of independent expenditures consisted
of 115 Facebook ads that ran from August 19, 2020, to November 4, 2020, and linked to its
GOTV donation portal. Respondent acknowledges that the “GOTV” donation portal, which
included the statements, “We must work together to defeat Joe Biden and Kamala Harris,” and
“VOTE FOR DONALD TRUMP,” contained express advocacy. Respondent states that it
received 1,705 contributions from 1,209 unique contributors between August 19, 2020, and
December 30, 2020, through this portal, and Respondents states that 145 contributions from 49
unique contributors exceeded the $200 reporting threshold, for a total of $26.975.

10. According to reports filed with the Commission, Respondent made its

earliest independent expenditure, in the amount of $27,926.25, on August 20, 2020, which it

reported as for “advertising-billboard/banner.” In all of 2020, Respondent disclosed a total of

$1,428,161.07 in independent expenditures.

1. Respondent’s original 2020 October Quarterly Report, filed on

October 15, 2020, disclosed $370,539.47 in independent expenditures but did not disclose any
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contributions. Similarly, its original 2020 Year-End Report, filed on January 30, 2021,
disclosed $1,057,621.60 in independent expenditures but no contributions. dets,. '-'t-f' I-

12.  On February 9, 2021, the Reports Analysis Division sent o
Request for Additional Information regarding missing contributor information.
Complaint was filed on March 23, 2021, Respondent filed an amended 2
Report on April 7, 2021, disclosing $16,540 in contributions; it also filed an amende:
Year-End Report on April 9, 2021, disclosing $17,255.00 in contributions,

13.  An*“independent expenditure” is an expenditure made b;
communication that (1) expressly advocates for the election or defeat of a cle
candidate, and (2) is not coordinated with the candidate, her authoriz
a political party committee or its agents. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(17); 11
requires persons other than political committees to report their indej
aggregating over $250 in a calendar year. 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c

committees, must disclose certain information about their disbu

candidates the independent expenditures support or op

requirements of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(6)(B)(iii)). '].

14.  In addition, the Act require
report independent expenditures to l'eport
52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1), a person other-
expenditures in excess of $250 during

information required under 52 U.S.C

-
1
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person.” Id. § 30104(c)(1). Section 30104(b)(3)(A) requires identification of each “person

(other than a political committee) who makes a contribution to the reporting [entity] during the
reporting period. . . . [aggregating] in excess of $200 within the calendar year.” Id.; see also id.

§ 30101(13) (defining “identification” to include name, address, and, for individuals, occupation
and employer). Furthermore, under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(2)(C), a person, other than a political
committee, reporting independent expenditures must also identify “each person who made a
contribution in excess of $200 . . . which was made for the purpose of furthering an independent
expenditure.” Id. § 30104(c)(2)(C) (emphasis added). Subsection (c)(2) further requires the
filing of statements in accordance with subsection (a)(2), which sets out the timing for filing
disclosure reports by political committees. Id.§ 30104(c)(2). The Act defines a “contribution™
to include “any gift, subscription, loan, advance or deposit of money or anything of value made .

.. for the purpose of influencing” a federal election. 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A); 11 C.E.R.

§ 100.52(a).

15.  Respondent contends that the “Get Involved™ portal existed over one

year before it made any independent expenditures, and that it has no means of identifying

which persons made “contributions” through this portal that were intended to support

independent expenditures.

V. Respondent violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1) and (¢)(2)(C) by failing to

disclose contributions totaling $33,795 on its 2020 October Quarterly and Year-End Reports
containing the information required under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3)(A).

VI.  Respondent will take the following actions:

1. Respondent will pay a civil penalty to the Commission in the amount of

Eighteen Thousand Dollars ($18,000) pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(5)(A).
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2 Respondent will cease and desist from violating 52 U.S.C:

§ 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C), which includes a requirement to disclose the mfﬁrmatlﬁﬂt - :
required under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3)(A)- '

VIL. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a complaint under 5:

§ 30109(a)(1) concerning the matters at issue herein or on its own mutmn,maz

compliance with this Agreement. If the Commission believes that this Agreem

requirement thereof has been violated, it may institute a civil action for relief in

States District Court for the District of Columbia. '

VIII.  This Agreement shall become effective as of the date that al -:.

hereto have executed the same and the Commission has ;'apprbvetl--ﬂiéi”

X Respondent shall have no more than 30 days from the

Agreement and to so notify the Commission.
X. This Conciliation Agreement constitutes the entire

Commission and Respondent and constitutes a final settlement a
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statement, promise, or agreement, either written or oral, made by either party or by ager

either party, that is not contained in this written.Agreement-shall be enforceable. il' gl |

FOR THE COMMISSION:

B Digitally signed by Lisa
Llsa Jane Jane Stevenson

Date: 2024.10.24 13:26:11

Stevenson  Gioe

Lisa J. Stevenson Date ‘ o
Acting General Counsel .

FOR THE RESPONDENT:

—\[0
(Name) T\l}bﬂt@wm S
(Position) CHer WeEATI n\cﬁt_@@ X
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In the Matter of

)
)

Turning Point Action ) MUR 7892
)

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF COMMISSIONERS SHANA M. BROUSSARD AND DARA
LINDENBAUM

This matter arose from a Complaint alleging that Turning Point Action (“TPA”), a non-profit
corporation, violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) by failing to disclose any of its contributors when it reported
making more than $1.4 million in independent expenditures in 2020. In its analysis, the Office of
General Counsel (“OGC”) identified three categories of receipts that it concluded should have been
disclosed pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c): (1) $33,795 in contributions that TPA subsequently
disclosed in amended disclosure reports; (2) an unknown amount of receipts that TPA likely solicited
and accepted and that should have been disclosed because TPA represented that its purpose was to
influence the 2020 presidential election; and (3) contributions that TPA received during the first two
quarters of 2020, before TPA began making independent expenditures.! We write to explain our vote to
dismiss the allegation with respect to this third category of receipts.>

I Factual Background

According to reports filed with the Commission, TPA made its earliest independent expenditure
on August 20, 2020.3 In its Response, TPA acknowledged receiving contributions from contributors
who exceeded the $200 disclosure threshold found in section 30104(b)(3)(A), but whom TPA did not
disclose because the contributions were received in the first or second quarterly report period of 2020,
prior to the first independent expenditure.* TPA asserted that it was not required to disclose these

! First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. (“First GCR”) at 2-3 (Oct. 31, 2023).
2 Certification § 2 (May 1, 2024). The Commission unanimously voted to find reason to believe with respect to the
first category of receipts. Id. 9 1.a. The Commission’s reasoning for that vote is explained in the Factual and Legal Analysis
that was unanimously adopted. Certification q 1-2 (June 25, 2024); see generally Factual & Legal Analysis (July 16, 2024).
We voted to find reason to believe with respect to the second category of receipts consistent with OGC’s recommendation,
but the Commission was evenly split on that recommendation. Certification § 2 (April 30, 2024).

3 See TPA, Amended 2020 October Quarterly Report at 36 (Apr. 7, 2021) (disclosing payment to Rally Forge, Queen
Creek, AZ).

4 Resp. at 2 (Apr. 9, 2021).
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contributions because, in its view, independent expenditure reports are triggered by the making of
independent expenditures, not the receipt of contributions.’

IL. Legal Analysis

The Act requires persons other than political committees who make independent expenditures
aggregating over $250 in a calendar year (“non-political committee reporting entities”) to file a
statement disclosing such independent expenditures (“independent expenditure disclosure statement”).
The Act further requires non-political committee reporting entities to report certain information about
their receipts on their independent expenditure disclosure statements. Specifically, section 30104(c)(1)
requires that an independent expenditure disclosure statement contain the information required under
52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3)(A) “for all contributions received by such person.”” Section 30104(b)(3)(A)
requires the identification of each “person (other than a political committee) who makes a contribution
to the reporting committee during the reporting period, . . . [aggregating] in excess of $200 within the
calendar year.”® In addition, non-political committee reporting entities must also identify on their
independent expenditure disclosure statements “each person who made a contribution in excess of $200
... which was made for the purpose of furthering an independent expenditure.”” Regarding the timing
of independent expenditure disclosure statements, section 30104(c)(2) requires the filing of such
statements in accordance with section 30104(a)(2), which in turn states that certain political committees
must file quarterly reports and pre- and post-election reports as applicable. '

In 2018, in Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington v. FEC (“CREW I’),!! the
District Court for the District of Columbia vacated the Commission’s implementing regulation at
11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(1)(vi), which limited non-political committee reporting entities’ disclosure of
contributors to those persons “who made a contribution in excess of $200 to the person filing such
report, which contribution was made for the purpose of furthering the reported independent
expenditure.”'?> On August 21, 2020, the D.C. Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision in its opinion
in Crossroads GPS v. CREW (“CREW II)."* In the absence of an implementing regulation, the
Commission looks to the statutory language to determine which contributions must be disclosed by a
non-political committee reporting entity such as TPA. To inform the public of how it interpreted the

5 Id.

6 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1).

7 Id.

8 1d. § 30104(b)(3)(A); see also id. § 30101(13) (defining “identification” to include name, address, and, for
individuals, occupation and employer).

o 1d. § 30104(c)(2)(C) (emphasis added).

10 1d. § 30104(c)(2); see id. § 30104(a)(2).

i 316 F. Supp. 3d 349 (D.D.C. 2018) (“CREW I).
12 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(1)(vi) (2018) (emphasis added).

13 971 F.3d 340, 354 (D.C. Cir. 2020) (“CREW II"’)
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statutory language following the CREW I decision, on October 4, 2018, the Commission issued guidance
regarding the filing obligations for persons other than political committees making independent
expenditures (“CREW Guidance”).'*

In our view, the Act requires that a non-political committee reporting entity must disclose on its
independent expenditure disclosure statement the “identification of each ‘person (other than a political
committee)’” who made a contribution to the reporting entity during the reporting period for which the
reporting entity is submitting the independent expenditure disclosure statement and whose contributions
aggregate in excess of $200 within the calendar year. This reading of the statutory language is
supported by the court’s opinion CREW II, as well as the Commission’s own CREW Guidance. '’

In CREW I1, the court held that “[section 30104](c)(1) unambiguously requires an entity making
over $250 in [independent expenditures] to disclose the name of any contributor whose contributions
during the relevant reporting period total $200, along with the date and amount of each contribution.
The D.C. Circuit also explained that the invalidation of 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(e)(1)(vi) meant that a person
other than a political committee who makes independent expenditures “will be required, as a result of
the district court’s judgment, to disclose nearly all contributions it receives during any reporting period
in which it makes [independent expenditures].”"’

16

In describing how the Commission would enforce the Act following the CREW I decision, the
CREW Guidance stated that sections 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C) “require entities making independent
expenditures of more than $250 in the calendar year to disclose information about those who contributed
for political purposes anytime during the full reporting quarter.”!®

OGC disagreed with this interpretation of section 30104(c). In its First General Counsel’s
Report, OGC recommended that the Commission find reason to believe that TPA failed to disclose
contributions that were received in the first and second quarters of 2020, before TPA made its first
reportable independent expenditure.' In OGC’s view, section 30104(c)(1) requires the disclosure of
every contribution received by the reporting entity, “not just contributions received during a discrete
period of time.”?* Even if the cross-reference to section 30104(b)(3)(A) limits disclosure to those
contributions received during “the reporting period,” OGC argues that section 30104(b)(3)(A) “does not

14 See Press Release, Fed. Election Comm’n, FEC Provides Guidance Following U.S. District Court Decision in

CREW v. FEC, 316 E. Supp. 3d 349 (D.D.C. 2018) (Oct. 4, 2018), https://www.fec.gov/updates/fec-provides-guidance-
following-us-district-court-decision-crew-v-fec-3 16-f-supp-3d-349-ddc-2018/ (“CREW Guidance”).

15 See CREW Guidance.

16 CREW 11,971 F.3d at 354 (emphasis added).
17 1d. at 347 (emphasis added).

18 CREW Guidance, Section 3.

19 First GCR at 41.

20 1d. at 38.
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anywhere refer to a quarterly reporting period.”?' This is so, OGC asserts, because different reporting
persons have different reporting periods.??> While it is true that different reporting persons have different
reporting periods, it is also true that non-political committee reporting entities are required to file
statements “in accordance with subsection (a)(2) of this section,” which sets out a quarterly report
schedule.?

OGC acknowledges that “section 30104(c)(2) references 30104(a)(2), which addresses the
timing for filings by principal campaign committees, and discusses filing on a quarterly basis, and
Commission regulations specify that person other than political committees must file quarterly reports,
as well as 24-Hour and 48-Hour reports, based on when the reportable independent expenditures are
made,” but concludes that none of that applies here.”* OGC argues that notwithstanding that section
30104(b)(3)(A) specifically refers to contributions received during a “reporting period” and that section
30104(a)(2) specifically requires the filing of quarterly reports, we should understand the statute to
require that non-political committee reporting entities like TPA disclose every contribution ever
received by the reporting entity.

We do not disagree with the policy considerations that support OGC’s interpretation.
Nevertheless, we must give effect to Congress’s language, including its decision to cross-reference other
provisions in the Act. The term “identification” is defined in the Act; Congress could have written
section 30104(c)(1) to require that every non-political committee reporting entity shall file a statement
containing the identification of each contributor for all contributions received by the reporting entity. It
did not.

To the extent that there is ambiguity in the statute, the Commission may engage in notice and
comment rulemaking to promulgate new regulations implementing 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2).
But in the absence of such a rulemaking and given the statutory language, we do not think that there is a

21 Id. at 39.

n 1d.

2 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(2); id. § 30104(a)(2).
24 First GCR at 36.
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sufficient basis to require TPA to disclose contributions received in a reporting period prior to the one in
which it triggered the independent expenditure reporting threshold.

Savir/n Bl

October 29, 2024

Date Shana M. Broussard
Commissioner
October 29, 2024 W
Date Dafa Lindenbaum

Commissioner
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WASHINGTON, D.C.
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In the Matter of
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Turning Point Action, et al.

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF
CHAIRMAN SEAN J. COOKSEY

In this matter, the Commission unanimously found reason to believe that Turning Point
Action (“TPA”), a tax-exempt social welfare organization established under Internal Revenue
Code § 501(c)(4), violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”),
by failing to disclose $33,795 in contributions when it reported independent expenditures made in
the third quarter of 2020.! At the same time, the Commission also dismissed the Complaint’s
allegations that TPA further violated the Act by not disclosing additional contributions it had
received during the first two quarters of 2020, before it had made the reportable expenditures.?
This statement explains the Commission’s reasoning on that issue.

Under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1), organizations other than political committees (‘“non-
committee organizations”) that make independent expenditures exceeding $250 in a calendar year
must file a report containing the same information required under § 30104(b)(3)(A) “for all
contributions received by such person.” Section 30104(b)(3)(A), in turn, requires identification of
each “person (other than a political committee) who makes a contribution to the reporting [non-
committee organization] during the reporting period, ... in excess of $200 within the calendar
year.”® In addition to the duty to report contributions pursuant to § 30104(c)(1), 52 U.S.C.
§ 30104(c)(2)(C) requires that reports of independent expenditures made by non-committee
organizations identify “each person who made a contribution in excess of $200 to the person filing

! Certification § 1 (May 1, 2024), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.).
2 1d. 9 2.

3 Following judicial vacatur of the Commission’s longstanding regulation implementing 52 U.S.C.

§30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C), three Commissioners interpreted “contributions” for purposes of § 30104(c)(1)’s
disclosure requirements only to reach donations made to non-committee organizations if they are “earmarked for a
political purpose,” that is, “designated or solicited for, or restricted to, activities or communications that expressly
advocate the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate for federal office.” See Policy Statement of Chairman
Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James E. “Trey” Trainor, III Concerning the Application
of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) at 6 (June 8, 2022).
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such statement which was made for the purpose of furthering an independent expenditure.” Except
in the case of certain independent expenditures of more than $1,000 or $10,000,* both initial and
subsequent reports of independent expenditures are filed on the same quarterly schedule as regular
reports by political committees.’ The Commission’s corresponding regulation largely mirrors the
statute’s language.®

In finding reason to believe here, the Commission determined that TPA—which made
independent expenditures that exceeded the $250 statutory threshold in August 2020—had failed
to report both “contributions” of more than $200 received during the third quarter of 2020, as
required by 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1), and “contribution[s] in excess of $200 ... made for the
purpose of furthering an independent expenditure” received in that same quarter, as required by
52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(2)(C). In its Response, TPA effectively admitted that it had not complied
with its duties to disclose certain contributions when it first reported independent expenditures in
the third quarter of 2020, and after receiving the Complaint in this matter, TPA subsequently
amended its relevant reports from 2020 to reflect its receipt of $33,795 in contributions in the third
quarter of 2020.” In light of TPA’s acknowledgement of noncompliance, the Commission found
reason to believe the organization had violated 52 U.S.C.§ 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and (c)(2)(C)
by failing to disclose contributions totaling $33,795 received during the third quarter of calendar
year 2020.

At the same time, the Commission dismissed allegations that TPA violated the same
provisions of the Act by also failing to disclose other contributions raised in the first and second
quarters of 2020—that is, in earlier reporting periods of the same calendar year before TPA made
any independent expenditures. Five commissioners concluded that TPA’s statutory obligation to
disclose contributions under both § 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C) was limited to contributions it had
received in the same reporting period in which it made the reportable independent expenditures.®

The Commission rejected the Office of the General Counsel’s (“OGC”) assertion that
“[t]he Act’s plain language ... forecloses any argument by TPA that contributions made in the first
or second quarter of 2020 ... need not be disclosed by virtue of TPA’s having made independent
expenditures beginning in the third quarter of 2020.”° The operation of the overall statutory
scheme compels a different understanding of the reporting requirements: § 30104(c)(1)’s reference

4 See 52 U.S.C. § 30104(g)(1)-(2) (requiring 24-hour reporting of independent expenditures of $1,000 or
more after the 20th day, but more than 24 hours before, an election, and 48-hour reporting of independent
expenditures of $10,000 or more made up to and including the 20th day before an election).

3 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(2) (requiring the filing of reports in accordance with § 30104(a)(2), which specifies
the timing for reports by political committees); 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b).

6 11 C.F.R. § 109.10.

7 See Response at 2 (Apr. 9, 2021), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.) (“TPA’s analysis demonstrates

that $33,795 in contributions should have been reported, ... These issues have been promptly remedied by filing
amended October 15 Quarterly and January 31 Year-End FEC Form 5 Reports of Independent Expenditures Made
and Contributions Received (‘Form 5 Reports’).”).

8 Certification 2 (May 1, 2024), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, ef al.) (voting 5-1 to dismiss the allegation
that TPA violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and (c)(2)(C) by failing to disclose additional contributions
received during the April Quarterly Report period or the July Quarterly Report period).

0 First General Counsel’s Report at 37 (Oct. 31, 2023), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.).

2
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to “the information required under [§ 30104(b)(3)(A)],” which requires that reports include the
“identification of each person (other than a political committee) who makes a contribution to the
reporting committee during the reporting period” in excess of $200 within the calendar year,
establishes the coverage period for contributions to be included on reports of independent
expenditures by non-committee organizations. While OGC claimed that TPA had to report
contributions of more than $200 received both in the relevant reporting period and earlier in the
calendar year, '° that reading of the Act overlooks that the text of § 30104(c)(1) plainly incorporates
the disclosure requirements of § 30104(b)(3)(A), which imposes a quarterly coverage period for
reportable contributions.

The Commission’s conclusion regarding the relevant coverage period for disclosing
contributions under § 30104(c) accords not only with basic canons of statutory interpretation, but
also with the Commission’s own regulations and guidance.'' Notably, the Commission has
published instructions for FEC Form 5—which non-committee organizations use to report their
independent expenditures—explaining that “[e]ach calendar year is divided into quarterly
reporting periods. Reports for independent expenditures are due on April 15, July 15, October 15
and January 31 of the following year and must include all reportable contributions received ...
from the closing date of the last report filed through the end of the calendar quarter for which the
report is submitted.”'? The instructions further direct filers to “enter total contributions received
during the reporting period, including contributions of $200 or less that were not itemized on
Schedule 5-A.”!* For each itemized receipt (that is, “contribution”) included on Schedule 5-A,
Form 5 contains an entry for the “Amount of Each Receipt this Period.” But it requires no such
information for contributions received before the start of the reporting period.

Similarly, after a federal court vacated the Commission’s regulation implementing 52
U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C), the Commission issued a press release with updated guidance
on independent-expenditure reporting by non-committee organizations. The press release stated
that, as part of Form 5, filers should disclose “each person (other than a political committee) who
made a contribution or contributions to the reporting person during the reporting period whose
contribution or contributions had an aggregate amount or value in excess of $200 within the
calendar year.”'* Considering the Commission’s publication of these guidance materials intended
for the regulated community, it would seriously impinge on principles of fair notice and due

10 See id.

1 See 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b) (requiring filing of reports of independent expenditures “for any quarterly period

during which any [] independent expenditures that aggregate in excess of $250 are made and in any quarterly reporting
period thereafter in which additional independent expenditures are made.”) (emphasis added).

12 See Instructions for Preparing FEC Form 5 (Reports of Independent Expenditures Made and Contributions

Received to be Used by Persons Other than Political Committees), FEC (revised Sept. 2013),
https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/policy-guidance/fecfrmSi.pdf.

13 Id.

14 FEC provides guidance following U.S. District Court decision in CREW v. FEC, 316 F. Supp. 3d 349
(D.D.C. 2018), FEC (Oct. 4, 2018), https://www.fec.gov/updates/fec-provides-guidance-following-us-district-court-
decision-crew-v-fec-316-f-supp-3d-349-ddc-2018 (emphasis added).
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process for the Commission now to proceed with enforcement against TPA based on a different—
and much broader—construction of the reporting periods for contributions under § 30104(c).

* %k ok

For these reasons, the Commission dismissed the allegations that TPA violated 52 U.S.C.
§ 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and (c)(2)(C) by failing to disclose contributions it had received in
calendar quarters before it made the reportable independent expenditures.

j /l l(‘ ’ October 28, 2024

Sean J. COM<sey Date
Chairman
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In this matter, the Commission unanimously found reason to believe that Turning Point
Action (“TPA”), a tax-exempt social welfare organization established under Internal Revenue
Code § 501(c)(4), violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”),
by failing to disclose $33,795 in contributions when it reported independent expenditures made in
the third quarter of 2020.! At the same time, the Commission also dismissed the Complaint’s
allegations that TPA further violated the Act by not disclosing additional contributions it had
received during the first two quarters of 2020, before it had made the reportable expenditures.?
This statement explains the our reasoning on that issue.

Under 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1), organizations other than political committees (“non-
committee organizations™) that make independent expenditures exceeding $250 in a calendar year
must file a report containing the same information required under 8 30104(b)(3)(A) “for all
contributions received by such person.” Section 30104(b)(3)(A), in turn, requires identification of
each “person (other than a political committee) who makes a contribution to the reporting [non-
committee organization] during the reporting period, ... in excess of $200 within the calendar
year.”® In addition to the duty to report contributions pursuant to § 30104(c)(1), 52 U.S.C.
8§ 30104(c)(2)(C) requires that reports of independent expenditures made by non-committee

! Certification 1 1 (May 1, 2024), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.).
2 Id. 7 2.
3 Following judicial vacatur of the Commission’s longstanding regulation implementing 52 U.S.C.

8 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C), three Commissioners interpreted “contributions” for purposes of §30104(c)(1)’s
disclosure requirements only to reach donations made to non-committee organizations if they are “earmarked for a
political purpose,” that is, “designated or solicited for, or restricted to, activities or communications that expressly
advocate the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate for federal office.” See Policy Statement of Chairman
Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James E. “Trey” Trainor, III Concerning the Application
of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c) at 6 (June 8, 2022).
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organizations identify “each person who made a contribution in excess of $200 to the person filing
such statement which was made for the purpose of furthering an independent expenditure.” Except
in the case of certain independent expenditures of more than $1,000 or $10,000,* both initial and
subsequent reports of independent expenditures are filed on the same quarterly schedule as regular
reports by political committees.> The Commission’s corresponding regulation largely mirrors the
statute’s language.®

In finding reason to believe here, the Commission determined that TPA—which made
independent expenditures that exceeded the $250 statutory threshold in August 2020—had failed
to report both ““contributions” of more than $200 received during the third quarter of 2020, as
required by 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(1), and “contribution[s] in excess of $200 ... made for the
purpose of furthering an independent expenditure” received in that same quarter, as required by
52 U.S.C. §30104(c)(2)(C). In its Response, TPA effectively admitted that it had not complied
with its duties to disclose certain contributions when it first reported independent expenditures in
the third quarter of 2020, and after receiving the Complaint in this matter, TPA subsequently
amended its relevant reports from 2020 to reflect its receipt of $33,795 in contributions in the same
third quarter of 2020.” In light of TPA’s acknowledgement of noncompliance, the Commission
found reason to believe the organization had violated 52 U.S.C.§ 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and
(c)(2)(C) by failing to disclose contributions totaling $33,795 received during the third quarter of
calendar year 2020.

At the same time, the Commission dismissed allegations that TPA violated the same
provisions of the Act by also failing to disclose other contributions raised in the first and second
quarters of 2020—that is, in earlier reporting periods of the same calendar year before TPA made
any independent expenditures. We agreed with Commissioners Broussard and Lindenbaum that
TPA’s statutory obligation to disclose contributions under both § 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C) was
limited to contributions it had received in the same reporting period in which it made the reportable
independent expenditures.®

We joined Commissioners Broussard and Lindenbaum in rejecting the Office of the
General Counsel’s (“OGC”) assertion that “[t]he Act’s plain language ... forecloses any argument
by TPA that contributions made in the first or second quarter of 2020 ... need not be disclosed by

4 See 52 U.S.C. § 30104(9)(1)-(2) (requiring 24-hour reporting of independent expenditures of $1,000 or
more after the 20th day, but more than 24 hours before, an election, and 48-hour reporting of independent
expenditures of $10,000 or more made up to and including the 20th day before an election).

5 52 U.S.C. § 30104(c)(2) (requiring the filing of reports in accordance with § 30104(a)(2), which specifies
the timing for reports by political committees); 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b).

6 11 C.F.R. § 109.10.

7 See Response at 2 (Apr. 9, 2021), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.) (“TPA’s analysis demonstrates

that $33,795 in contributions should have been reported, ... These issues have been promptly remedied by filing
amended October 15 Quarterly and January 31 Year-End FEC Form 5 Reports of Independent Expenditures Made
and Contributions Received (‘Form 5 Reports’).”).

8 Certification 12 (May 1, 2024), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.) (voting 5-1 to dismiss the allegation
that TPA violated 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b)(3)(A), (c)(1), and (c)(2)(C) by failing to disclose additional contributions
received during the April Quarterly Report period or the July Quarterly Report period).
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virtue of TPA’s having made independent expenditures beginning in the third quarter of 2020.”
Rather, we understand the operation of the overall statutory scheme to compel a different
understanding of the reporting requirements: § 30104(c)(1)’s reference to “the information
required under [§ 30104(b)(3)(A)],” which requires that reports include the “identification of each
person (other than a political committee) who makes a contribution to the reporting committee
during the reporting period” in excess of $200 within the calendar year, establishes the coverage
period for contributions to be included on reports of independent expenditures by non-committee
organizations. While OGC claimed that TPA had to report contributions of more than $200
received both in the relevant reporting period and earlier in the calendar year, that reading of the
Act overlooks that the text of § 30104(c)(1) plainly incorporates the disclosure requirements of
8§ 30104(b)(3)(A), which imposes a quarterly coverage period for reportable contributions.

This understanding of the relevant coverage period for disclosing contributions under
8 30104(c) accords not only with basic canons of statutory interpretation, but also with the
Commission’s own regulations and guidance.!! Notably, the Commission has published
instructions for FEC Form 5—which non-committee organizations use to report their independent
expenditures—explaining that “[e]ach calendar year is divided into quarterly reporting periods.
Reports for independent expenditures are due on April 15, July 15, October 15 and January 31 of
the following year and must include all reportable contributions received ... from the closing date
of the last report filed through the end of the calendar quarter for which the report is submitted.”*2
The instructions further direct filers to “enter total contributions received during the reporting
period, including contributions of $200 or less that were not itemized on Schedule 5-A.”*3 For
each itemized receipt (that is, “contribution”) included on Schedule 5-A, Form 5 contains an entry
for the “Amount of Each Receipt this Period.” But it requires no such information for contributions
received before the start of the reporting period.

Similarly, after a federal court vacated the Commission’s regulation implementing 52
U.S.C. 8 30104(c)(1) and (c)(2)(C), the Commission issued a press release with updated guidance
on independent-expenditure reporting by non-committee organizations. The press release stated
that, as part of Form 5, filers should disclose “each person (other than a political committee) who
made a contribution or contributions to the reporting person during the reporting period whose
contribution or contributions had an aggregate amount or value in excess of $200 within the
calendar year.”'* Considering the Commission’s publication of these guidance materials intended

9 First General Counsel’s Report at 37 (Oct. 31, 2023), MUR 7892 (Turning Point Action, et al.).
10 See id.
1 See 11 C.F.R. § 109.10(b) (requiring filing of reports of independent expenditures “for any quarterly period

during which any [] independent expenditures that aggregate in excess of $250 are made and in any quarterly
reporting period thereafter in which additional independent expenditures are made.”) (emphasis added).

12 See Instructions for Preparing FEC Form 5 (Reports of Independent Expenditures Made and Contributions
Received to be Used by Persons Other than Political Committees), FEC (revised Sept. 2013),
https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/policy-guidance/fecfrm5i.pdf.

13 Id.

14 FEC provides guidance following U.S. District Court decision in CREW v. FEC, 316 F. Supp. 3d 349
(D.D.C. 2018), FEC (Oct. 4, 2018), https://www.fec.gov/updates/fec-provides-guidance-following-us-district-court-
decision-crew-v-fec-316-f-supp-3d-349-ddc-2018 (emphasis added).
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